IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 96-60277

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS

DW GHT DI XON; STANLEY KNOX,
Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of M ssissippi

Decenber 29, 1997
Before MAA LL,” SM TH, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
MAG LL, G rcuit Judge:

Appel l ants Stanl ey Knox and Dwi ght Di xon were convicted of
various federal offenses related to their participation in a drug
trafficking conspiracy. Appellants appeal their convictions and
sentences, raising atorrent of |egal challenges. W vacate Knox's
conviction for conspiracy and affirm the district court in all

ot her respects.

" Circuit Judge of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit,
sitting by designation.



Bet ween 1992 and 1995, appel | ant Stanl ey Knox operated a | arge
cocai ne distribution organi zation in Tippah County, M ssissippi
Knox' s organi zati on consi sted of over ni ne nenbers who wor ked under
Knox's direction to obtain, transport, and distribute crack and
powder cocaine. Knox used his own residence as the distribution
center and headquarters for the organization. Knox enpl oyed
several dealers, including appellant Dw ght D xon, to sell crack
cocai ne fromKnox's house and to deliver crack cocaine to custoners
at other |ocations. Knox and his dealers sold crack cocaine
twenty-four hours per day, seven days per week.

Knox arranged, participated in, and directed several trips to
pick up cocaine from Menphis and Nashville, Tennessee, for
distribution in Tippah County. These trips were taken severa
tinmes per week, and sonetines every other day, and Knox's
organi zati on garnered between two and three ounces of cocai ne on
each trip. | f Knox or his runners obtained powder cocaine on a
trip, then Knox would supervise cooking the powder cocaine into
crack cocaine for future sale. Knox, hinself, nade at |east four
trips to Nashville and picked up between six and nine ounces of
cocai ne on each trip. D xon nmade at |east one trip with Knox to
Menmphis to pick up two ounces of cocaine. In July 1994 two of
Knox's runners, Mtchell Knox (Mtchell) and Barry Cook, were
arrested while returning fromMenphis after obtaining three ounces
of cocaine for Knox. At the tinme, Cook and Mtchell were driving
Knox's white Mercedes, which displayed a license plate for a

different vehicle registered to D xon.



Local, state, and federal authorities investigated Knox's and
Di xon's activities by using undercover agents and infornmers. The
agents and inforners nmade nunerous controlled drug buys directly
fromeither Knox, Dixon, or other nenbers of Knox's organization.
Most of the controlled drug buys were perforned at Knox's house,
al t hough sone were perforned at other |ocations in accordance with
Knox's directions.

On June 22, 1995, a grand jury issued a twenty-three count
i ndi ctment against ten defendants for various drug and firearm
vi ol ati ons. Di xon was charged with one count of conspiracy to
possess with intent to distribute cocai ne base between 1991 and
1995, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846. Knox, in addition to being
charged wth the conspiracy count, was charged with one count of
unlawful |y engaging in a continuing crimnal enterprise (CCE) from
1992 to March 1995, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §8 848. Knox al so was
charged with eight counts of possessing with intent to distribute
cocai ne base, in violation of 21 U S.C. 8 841,' two counts of using
and carrying firearnms inrelationto drug trafficking, in violation
of 18 U S. C 8 924(c),? ten counts of using the telephone to
facilitate the comm ssion of a felony under 21 U S . C. 8§ 841, in
violation of 21 US C § 843,® and one count of attenpted
possession of cocaine, in violation of 21 U S.C. 88 841 and 846.

After Knox and Dixon's indicted codefendants entered plea

! The government dismissed three of these counts during trial
2 The governnent disnissed these counts during trial

3 The governnent disnissed one of these counts during trial
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bargains with the governnent, the governnent proceeded to trial
agai nst Knox and Di xon. The governnent dism ssed several counts
agai nst Knox during trial, and the jury ultimately returned
verdicts of guilty against both Knox and D xon on all remaining
counts. The district court sentenced Knox to life inprisonnent?
and sentenced Dixon to 240 nonths inprisonnent. Knox and Di xon
rai se numerous issues on appeal concerning both their convictions

and their sentences.

1. DOUBLE JEOPARDY

Knox contends that his convictions for both participating in
a drug conspiracy and engagi ng in a CCE viol ate t he Doubl e Jeopardy
Cl ause of the Fifth Anendnent. W review Knox's doubl e jeopardy
claim de novo. See United States v. Fields, 72 F.3d 1200, 1209
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 48 (1996).

Count one of the indictnment charged Knox with participatingin
a drug conspiracy under 21 US. C 8§ 846 and alleged that the
conspiracy existed from 1991 through 1995. Count two of the
i ndi ctment charged Knox with engaging in a CCE under 21 U S C
8 848 and al |l eged that the CCE existed from1992 t hrough 1995. The
jury convicted Knox on both counts, but the district court only
i nposed sentence on Knox for his CCE conviction.

As the governnment concedes, a conviction under both the

4 Knox was sentenced to |ife inprisonment on the CCE count, and he received
concurrent sentences of various terms on his renaining convictions. The district
court initially also sentenced Knox to a concurrent 240-nonth sentence for the
conspiracy count, but specifically rescinded the sentence because the conspiracy
was a | esser included offense of the CCE

4



conspiracy and the CCE statutes is unconstitutional where the
alleged CCE is the sane enterprise as the conspiracy. See Rutl edge
v. United States, 116 S. C. 1241, 1247 (1996); Fields, 72 F. 3d at
1209- 10. Because we agree that the alleged CCE is the sane
enterprise as the conspiracy, this Court vacates Knox's conviction
for drug conspiracy under count one of the indictnent.?® See
Fields, 72 F.3d at 1209-10 (vacating drug conspiracy conviction
when def endant unconstitutionally convicted of both drug conspiracy
and engaging in a CCE).

Despite vacating Knox's drug conspiracy conviction, it is not
necessary to remand this case for resentencing. Were it is clear
that the drug conspiracy conviction did not |lead the district court
to i npose a harsher sentence on Knox for engaging in a CCE than it
woul d have in the absence of the drug conspiracy conviction, there
is no need to remand for resentencing. See id. at 1210. Her e,
Knox has not even been sentenced for the conspiracy conviction.
Clearly, the conspiracy conviction did not affect Knox's sentence

for the CCE conviction.

I11. EVI DENTI ARY | SSUES
"Evaluating the adm ssibility of evidence is a matter within

the sound discretion of the district court."” United States v.

5 Knox contends that his CCE conviction should al so be vacated because
evidence introduced to prove Knox's participation in the conspiracy was
irrelevant to Knox's engagenent in the CCE and was extrenely prejudicial to Knox.
This contention is absurd. Evidence relevant to proving Knox's participationin
the conspiracy clearly is relevant to proving Knox's engagerment in the CCE
because the conspiracy, as a |lesser included offense of the CCE, conprises the
sane enterprise as the CCE. See United States v. Fields, 72 F.3d 1200, 1209-10
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 48 (1996).
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Sparks, 2 F.3d 574, 582 (5th CGr. 1993). Accordingly, when a
def endant properly objects to the adm ssion of evidence, the
district court's decision to admt such evidence is reviewed for an
abuse of discretion. See, e.g., United States v. Bernea, 30 F.3d
1539, 1574 (5th Gr. 1994); WIlson v. Zapata Of-Shore Co., 939
F.2d 260, 272 (5th Gr. 1991).

A Knox' s Possessi on of Firearns

Knox contends that the district court abused its discretionin
allowing the governnent to introduce evidence that he possessed
firearms. This Crcuit has explicitly "recognized that firearns
are 'tools of the trade' of those engaged in illegal drug
activities and are highly probative in proving crimnal intent."
United States v. Martinez, 808 F.2d 1050, 1057 (5th Cir. 1987); see
also United States v. Beverly, 921 F.2d 559, 562 (5th G r. 1991)
("[t]here is also no doubt that firearns are drug traffickers'
tools of trade"). Accordingly, we find that the district court did

not abuse its discretion in admtting this evidence.

B. Exhi bit 26--Bag of Crack Cocai ne

Knox also contends that the district court abused its
discretioninadmtting a bag of crack cocai ne--exhi bit 26--because
the governnent failed to establish the chain of custody wth
respect to the bag. Two governnent w tnesses, Captain Eddie
McCul | ough and Agent Jeff Palner, each testified that they

delivered the bag of cocaine directly to the crine |ab. Pal mer



testified that McCul | ough delivered the bag directly to Pal ner, and
that MCul | ough was m staken when he testified that he delivered
the bag directly to the crinme |ab. Knox contends that this
contradictory testinony renders the bag of cocai ne inadm ssible.
W di sagr ee.

As this Crcuit has explained, a "break in the chain of
custody sinply goes to the weight of the evidence, not its
adm ssibility." Sparks, 2 F.3d at 582; see al so Bernea, 30 F. 3d at
1574. Accordingly, even if the apparent contradiction between
Pal ner's and McCul | ough's testinonies supports an inference of a
break in the chain of custody--a proposition we doubt--the district
court did not abuse its discretion in admtting the bag of

cocai ne. ®

C. Exhibit 31--Tire Town, Inc.'s Business Records

Bot h Knox and Di xon contend that the district court abused its
discretion in admtting pager-rental records of Tire Town, Inc.
During cross-examnation, Tire Town's owner conceded that he did
not personally create the records and that he did not personally

know whet her the records were true or accurate. Tire Town's owner

6 Knox also argues that the district court abused its discretion by

admtting exhibit 32--a different bag of cocai ne confiscated fromKnox--because
of a break in the chain of custody. Knox relies on the admission by two
witnesses in the chain of custody that they never initialed the bag of cocaine
and thus coul d not be one hundred percent positive that the substance in the bag
was, in fact, the substance confiscated from Knox. Each wi tness did, however,
testify fromwhomthey received the bag and to whom they provided the bag, and
established their respective links in the chain of custody. Accordingly, the
lack of initials does not render the bag of cocaine inadm ssible. See United
States v. Sparks, 2 F.3d 574, 581-82 (5th Gr. 1993) (district court did not
abuse discretion by adnmitting into evidence two bottles of crack despite
officer's testinony that he never initialed the bottles).
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di d, however, substantiate that the records were business records
wthin the definition of Federal Rule of Evidence 803(6) and
testified that he relied on the accuracy of these records in the
ordi nary course of business. This Court has held that

[a]ny person in a position to attest to the authenticity

of certainrecords is conpetent to lay the foundation for

the adm ssibility of the records; he need not have been

the preparer of the record, nor nust he personal ly attest

to the accuracy of the information contained in the

records.
Rosenberg v. Collins, 624 F.2d 659, 665 (5th Gr. 1980).
Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in
admtting Tire Town's business records. See Bernea, 30 F.3d at
1574 (holding that the district court not abuse its discretion by
admtting records under Fed. R Evid. 803(6) even though the
custodi an of records admtted "that she did not know whether the
records had been maintained in their original formor altered in
any way"); WIlson, 939 F.2d at 272 (holding that the district court
did not abuse its discretion by admtting records under Fed. R

Evid. 803(6) despite the custodian of records's failure to testify

that the records were accurate).

D. Tape Recorded Conversations Between Knox and Myrtl e Bennett
Bot h Knox and Di xon contend that the district court abused its
discretion in admtting tape recordings nmade of telephone calls
between Knox and Mrrtle Bennett, a previously cooperative
governnent informant, while arranging a controlled drug sale.
Appellants argue that the tape recorded conversations are
i nadm ssi bl e hearsay and, because Bennett refused to testify during
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trial, that the district court's adm ssion of the tape recordings
violated their Sixth Amendnent right to confront Bennett. e
di sagr ee.

We first point out that neither Knox's nor Bennett's recorded
statenents are inadm ssible hearsay. Knox's recorded statenents
are not hearsay because they constitute party adm ssions under
Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(A). See United States .
Cherame, 51 F.3d 538, 541 (5th Gr. 1995); United States .
CQutierrez-Chavez, 842 F.2d 77, 81 (5th Cr. 1988). Bennett's
recorded statenents, rather than offered to prove their truth, are
adm ssible to prove that they were uttered, and thus do not
constitute hearsay.’ See Qutierrez-Chavez, 842 F.2d at 81.

Wth respect to appellants' Sixth Amendnent concerns, this
Court recently held that tape recordings made of conversations
bet ween an unavail able informant® and a defendant are adm ssible
and do not violate the Sixth Arendnent confrontation clause if the
tapes are supported by adequate indicia of reliability. See
Cheram e, 51 F.3d at 540-41; Cutierrez-Chavez, 842 F.2d at 81. In
this case, the governnment provided adequate indicia of each
recording's reliability. First, Agent Rod Wal | er was present while

the conversations between Bennett and Knox occurred. Second,

" Even if Bennett's recorded statenents are hearsay, they are adnmissible
to put Knox's statenments into context. See United States v. Cheramie, 51 F.3d
538, 541 (5th Cr. 1995); United States v. CQutierrez-Chavez, 842 F.2d 77, 81 (5th
Cir. 1988).

8 Because Bennett refused to testify on the basis of the Fifth Arendnent,
she becane "unavailable" within the definition of Federal Rule of Evidence
804(a).



VWl ler was the person who dialed Knox's phone nunber for each
recorded phone call. Third, Waller testified that each recording
contained the sane statenents that Bennett asserted during the
respective telephone conversations. Fourth, Waller identified
Knox' s voi ce as the voi ce engaging in dialogue with Bennett during
the recorded tel ephone conversati ons. Fifth, a controlled drug
deal occurred in accordance with instructions provided by Knox to
Bennett during one of the recorded phone conversations. Under
t hese circunstances, we hold that the recordi ngs are supported by
adequate indicia of reliability, see Cherame, 51 F.3d at 541
(listing factors supporting a finding of adequate indicia of
reliability), and that the district court did not abuse its

discretion in admtting the tapes into evidence.

E. Drug Sale and Tape Recorded Conversation Between D xon and

Denni s Rober son

D xon also contends that the district court abused its
discretion in admtting evidence of a drug sale between D xon and
Dennis Roberson, a governnent confidential informant, and in
admtting a tape recording of the conversation between D xon and
Roberson during the drug sale. D xon argues on appeal that the
governnent failed to prove that the drug sale was relevant to his
participation in the drug conspiracy, and thus inadm ssible, and
that the tape recording constitutes inadm ssible hearsay. W
di sagr ee.

Whet her Dixon's sale of drugs to Roberson was an act in
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furtherance of the conspiracy charged in the indictnent, rather
than an i ndependent drug sale, is a question of fact for the jury.
See United States v. Mirgan, 117 F. 3d 849, 858 (5th Cr.) (holding
that "[w] hether the evidence shows one or nultiple conspiracies is
a question of fact for the jury"), cert. denied, 66 U S. L.W 3355
(U.S. Nov. 17, 1997) (No. 97-6370). The district court did not
abuse its discretion in admtting evidence of Dixon's drug sale to
Rober son.

Wth respect to the tape recording's admssibility, D xon's
recorded statenents are admssible as a party adm ssion under
Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(A), and Roberson's recorded
statenents, even if considered hearsay, are admssible to put
D xon's statenents into context. See Cherame, 51 F.3d at 541;
CQutierrez-Chavez, 842 F.2d at 81. Accordingly, the district court

did not abuse its discretion by admtting the tape recording.

| V. APPELLANTS BRADY CLAI M

Knox and Di xon bot h contend that the governnent vi ol at ed Br ady
v. Mryland, 373 U S 83 (1963), by failing to produce Knox's
financial records and car titles, which the governnent sei zed while
executing a search warrant. Knox argues that such evidence would
have helped him contest the governnent's allegation that Knox
derived substantial inconme from the sale of drugs, which is an
essential elenent of his CCE conviction. D xon argues that such
evi dence would have denonstrated his legitimate ownership of a

Suzuki Samurai Sidekick and that he would t hus be exoner at ed.
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This Court reviews the district court's Brady determ nation de
novo. See United States v. Geen, 46 F.3d 461, 464 (5th Cr.
1995) . To establish a due process violation under Brady, a
def endant nust show that: (1) evidence was suppressed; (2) the
suppressed evidence was favorable to the defense; and (3) the
suppressed evidence was naterial either to guilt or to punishnent.
See Brady, 373 U.S. at 87; United States v. Aubin, 87 F.3d 141, 148
(5th Gr. 1996), cert. denied, 117 S. . 965 (1997). However,
Brady does not obligate the governnent "to produce for [a
def endant] evidence or information already known to him or that he
coul d have obtained from other sources by exercising reasonable
diligence." Brown v. Cain, 104 F.3d 744, 750 (5th Cr.), cert.
denied, 117 S. . 1489 (1997). Accordingly, to prevail in their
Brady claim Knox and D xon nust showthat the allegedly suppressed
informati on was not available to themthrough due diligence. See
Aubin, 87 F.3d at 149.

Nei t her Knox nor Di xon has denonstrated that the information
contained in Knox's financial records and car titles was not
avai |l abl e to hi mthrough his own due diligence.® Knox asserts that
the seized evidence contained information about the inconme he
received from buying and selling used cars. This is information
about which Knox should have known, and Knox has not shown that
this informati on was not available to himthrough due diligence.

Di xon asserts that the suppressed evidence contained infornmation

9 Neither Knox nor Dixon even argues that he could not have obtained the
i nformation through his own due diligence.
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about his ownership of the Suzuki. As with Knox, this is
i nformati on about which D xon shoul d have known, and D xon has not
shown that this informati on was not available to him through due

diligence. Accordingly, the governnent did not violate Brady.

V. SUFFI Cl ENCY OF THE EVI DENCE

When reviewi ng a claimfor insufficiency of the evidence, this
Court nust determ ne whether, based on the totality of the evidence
presented at trial, a rational jury could have found that the
governnent proved the essential elenments of the crines charged
beyond a reasonabl e doubt. See United States v. Davis, 61 F.3d
291, 296 (5th Cr. 1995). Wile naking this determnation, this
Court nust consider the evidence in the |ight nost favorable to the
governnent, including all reasonable inferences that nmay be drawn
therefrom See United States v. Bernea, 30 F.3d 1539, 1551 (5th
Cir. 1994).

A The CCE Convi ction
Knox chal | enges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his
CCE conviction. A person engages in a CCE if:

(1) he violates any provision of [title 21] the
puni shment for which is a felony, and

(2) such violation is part of a continuing series of
violations of [title 21] --

(A) which are undertaken by such persons in
concert with five or nore other persons with
respect to whom such person occupies a
position of organi zer, a supervisory position,
or any other position of managenent, and
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(B) fromwhich such person obtains substanti al
i nconme or resources.

21 U.S.C. § 848(c).
The testinony at trial established that Knox was the | eader of

a large crack and powder cocaine distribution conspiracy that

operated between 1992 and 1995, enployed nore than five people at

any given tinme, and nmade significant suns of noney from the
conspiracy. Wile nuch of the testinony inplicating Knox was from
coconspirators who accepted plea bargains from the governnent,

"[1]t is well-settled that credibility determ nations are the sole
province of the jury." Davis, 61 F.3d at 297. | ndeed, "'[a]

conviction may rest solely on the uncorroborated testinony of one
acconplice if the testinony is not insubstantial on its face.'"
ld. (quoting United States v. G bson, 55 F.3d 173, 181 (5th Gr.
1995)). In this case, each of the witnesses testified to nunerous
drug runs and drug deals. Moreover, nuch of the testinony was
corrobor at ed by undercover agents, governnent informants, and taped
t el ephone conversations. The bountiful evidence describing Knox's
role in the conspiracy and the substantial incone he derived

therefromwas sufficient to support his CCE conviction.

B. Use of a Communication Facility

Knox also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to
support two of his convictions under 21 U S.C. 8§ 843(b) for using
a communication facility to facilitate the attenpted distribution
of cocai ne. Knox contends that his convictions under counts
twenty-two and twenty-three are inproper because no drug
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transactions occurred as a result of either of the predicate act
tel ephone calls. W disagree.

To secure a conviction under 21 US C § 843(b), the
governnment nust establish that the defendant knowi ngly and
intentionally used a tel ephone to facilitate the comm ssion of a
narcotics offense. See United States v. CGonzal ez-Rodri guez, 966
F.2d 918, 921 (5th Gr. 1992).

In order to establish the facilitation elenent, the

Gover nnent nust show that the tel ephone call cones within

t he common neani ng of facilitate--to nake easier or |ess

difficult, or to assist or aid. It is sufficient if a

defendant's wuse of a telephone to facilitate the

possession or distribution of controlled substances
facilitates either his own or anot her person's possessi on

or distribution.

ld. (quotations and citations omtted). Because counts twenty-two
and twenty-three of the indictnent specifically charge Knox with
using a communication facility to facilitate the "attenpted
distribution" of cocaine, the governnent only is required to
establish that Knox used the tel ephone to facilitate an attenpt to
distribute drugs. See United States v. Rey, 641 F.2d 222, 224 n.6
(5th Gr. Unit A Mar. 1981) ("[w hen the underlying offense is an
i nchoate one such as attenpt or conspiracy, then the attenpt or
conspiracy is all that nust be shown . . . , and it is not
necessary to show conpletion of the objective of that inchoate
crime").

In this case, we conclude that the evidence is sufficient to
support Knox's convi ctions under both counts twenty-two and twenty-
three. During the first tel ephone call on February 10, 1995 (count

twenty-two), Wanda Henry, a governnent w tness, asked Knox to sel
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her sonme drugs. To conplete the sale, Knox directed Henry to neet
him at a store at which he sold her drugs on the previous day.
Knox subsequently net Henry at the store, but did not sell her any
drugs. Rat her, and because he was concerned that he was being
foll owed, Knox directed Henry to page him twenty mnutes after
| eaving the store. Henry subsequently left the store and paged
Knox approximately twenty mnutes |ater. Knox responded to the
page (count twenty-three) and directed Henry to neet himat a Wl -
Mart to conplete the sale. Knox, however, never showed up at the
Val - Mart . This evidence is sufficient for a reasonable jury to
determ ne that Knox twice attenpted to sell drugs to Henry, and

that Knox used the telephone to facilitate each attenpt.

C. The Drug Conspiracy Conviction

Di xon chal l enges the sufficiency of the evidence to support
his drug conspiracy conviction. To support a drug conspiracy
convi ction, the governnent nust establish "(1) the existence of an
agreenent between two or nore persons to violate narcotics law, (2)
t he defendant's know edge of the agreenent; and (3) the defendant's
voluntary participation in the agreenent.” United States v.
Gonzal ez, 76 F.3d 1339, 1346 (5th Cr. 1996). "A jury may infer
the elenents of a conspiracy conviction from circunstanti al
evi dence: An agreenent to violate narcotics |aws nmay be inferred
from concert of action. Knowl edge of the conspiracy my be
inferred from a collection of circunstances.” United States v.

Leal, 74 F.3d 600, 606 (5th Gr. 1996) (quotations and citations
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omtted). |In addition, "[a]lthough nere presence at the scene of
the crinme or close association with a coconspirator will not
support an inference of participation in a conspiracy, a
defendant's voluntary participation may be inferred from a
devel opnent and a col |l ocation of circunstances.” United States v.
Vergara, 687 F.2d 57, 61 (5th Gr. 1982) (quotations and citations
omtted).

In this case, there is abundant evidence supporting the
exi stence of a drug conspiracy. The case also teens with evidence
show ng that Di xon knew of and voluntarily participated in the
conspiracy. Several witnesses!® testified that Dixon worked in
Knox's organi zation, buying, delivering, and selling crack and
powder cocaine. For exanple, Scott Ri ddle, one of Knox's cousins
and drug sellers, testified that D xon sold crack cocai ne at Knox's
house and that D xon nade trips to pick up cocaine for Knox.
Rhonda Sinmmons, a coconspirator, testified that Di xon delivered
crack cocaine for Knox. Janmes Rutherford testified that he had
dealt with Di xon when purchasing crack cocai ne at Knox's house.
Virginia Cowan testified that she bought crack cocaine from Di xon
at Knox's house. Di ane G aham whose husband bought and sol d drugs

for Knox, testified that D xon worked for Knox. |In addition, Knox

10 pi xon argues that many of the witnesses who testified agai nst himwere
coconspi rators who recei ved pl ea bargai ns, whose testinony was not credible, and
sone of whose testinony was not corroborated by non-coconspirators. As expl ai ned
above, however, "[i]t is well-settled that credibility determ nations are the
sole province of the jury." United States v. Davis, 61 F.3d 291, 297 (5th Cir.
1995). Accordingly, "non-credibility is generally not a sound basis for alleging
insufficiency of the evidence; it is the jury's function to determ ne
credibility.” United States v. Payne, 99 F.3d 1273, 1278 (5th Gr. 1996)
(quotations and citations omtted).
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provi ded a pager to D xon, and Di xon's |icense plate was affixed to
Knox's car when tw of Knox's drug runners were arrested.
Furthernore, Dixon traveled with Knox on at |east one occasion to
M ssi ssippi to pick up several ounces of cocaine. This evidenceis

sufficient to support D xon's conspiracy conviction.

VI . SENTENCI NG | SSUES

Knox and Di xon appeal the sentences inposed by the district
court under the United States Sentencing Guidelines. This Court
reviews the district court's application of the Sentencing
CGui delines de novo and the district court's factual findings for
clear error. See United States v. West, 58 F. 3d 133, 137 (5th Cr
1995). "A factual finding is not clearly erroneous as long as it
is plausible in light of the record as a whole.”" United States v.
Thomas, 12 F.3d 1350, 1368 (5th Cr. 1994) (quotations and

citations omtted).

A Fi rear m Enhancenent

Knox and Di xon both contend that the district court's two-
| evel enhancenent for possession or use of a dangerous weapon,
under U S S G 8§ 2DL.1(b)(1), was clearly erroneous. The
enhancenent is appropriate if a firearm"was possessed during the
course of manufacturing, inporting, exporting, or trafficking in
narcotics, including attenpting or conspiring to do so." United
States v. Gaytan, 74 F.3d 545, 559 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 117 S.
. 77, and cert. denied, 117 S. C. 506 (1996). The district
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court's decision to enhance the sentence level for firearns is a
factual determ nation reviewed for clear error, see United States
v. Brown, 985 F.2d 766, 769 (5th Gr. 1993), and may be supported
by "any relevant evidence that has sufficient indicia of
reliability to support its probable accuracy." United States v.
Buchanan, 70 F.3d 818, 828 (5th Cr. 1995) (quotations and
citations omtted). However, the applicability of the enhancenent
must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. United States
v. Devine, 934 F.2d 1325, 1339 (5th CGr. 1991).

In this case, the evidence clearly indicates that Knox
possessed firearnms during the course of the CCE. Virginia Crum
Knox's former girlfriend, testified that Knox travel ed to Menphis
two to three tinmes each week to pick up cocaine and that Knox
carried a gun on nearly every trip. In addition, both Larry Cox,
one of Knox's coconspirators, and Diane G aham the w fe of one of
Knox's coconspirators, testified that guns were kept at Knox's
house. Furthernmore, M ke Edlenon, a governnent investigator,
testified that he saw firearns carried by Knox's coconspirators
while they were selling drugs to custoners in Knox's driveway.

The evidence also clearly indicates that the district court
did not err in enhancing D xon's sentence under U S S G
§ 2D1.1(b)(1). A defendant's sentence may properly be enhanced
under U.S.S.G § 2D1.1(b)(1) if the possession of a firearmby one
of his coconspirators was reasonably foreseeable. See Gaytan, 74
F.3d at 559. This Court has explained that "[o]rdinarily, one co-

conspirator's use of afirearmw || be foreseeabl e because firearns
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are 'tools of the trade' in drug conspiracies.” United States v.
Mergerson, 4 F.3d 337, 350 (5th Gr. 1993) (citation omtted). In
this case, the evidence denonstrates that Di xon distributed drugs
at Knox's house, and that firearns were kept and carried in Knox's
house in connection with drug activities. In addition, Dixon
travel ed to Menphis with Knox on at |east one occasion to pick up

drugs, and Knox carried firearns on nearly every trip to Menphis.

B. Constitutionality of 21 U.S.C. § 860(a)

Knox argues that 21 U S . C. 8§ 860(a) is an unconstitutional
extension of Congress's regulatory powers under the Conmrerce
Cl ause, and that his convictions under 8 860(a) should thus be
vacated. This Court, however, has already rejected this argunent.
See United States v. Cark, 67 F.3d 1154, 1165-66 (5th Cr. 1995),
vacated in part on ot her grounds sub nom Coffman v. United States,
117 S. C. 40 (1996); see also United States v. Allen, 106 F.3d
695, 701 (6th Cr.) (agreeing with Cark that 21 U S.C. 8 860 is
wi thin Congress's comrerce power), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 2467
(1997); United States v. Lopez, 2 F.3d 1342, 1366 n.50 (5th Gr.
1993) (indicating that 21 U S.C. 8§ 860 is based on the "federa
authority over intrastate as well as interstate narcotics

trafficking"), aff'd, 514 U S. 549 (1995).

VI1. OTHER | SSUES
Knox and Di xon raise nunerous other issues in this appeal

Knox contends that the district court erred by (1) quashing his
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subpoena to Probation Oficer Darrell Doss, (2) limting his cross-
exam nation of Barry Cook and Barry Cox, (3) seating Peggy Dudl ey
as a juror, (4) refusing to give one of Knox's proposed jury
instructions, (5) nmerging jury instructions for different counts of
the indictnent, (6) refusing to grant a mstrial because Mrtle
Bennett pl eaded the Fifth Amendnent while on the witness stand, (7)
refusing to grant a mstrial because of the governnent's
i ntroduction of inproper and prejudicial evidence, (8) refusingto
grant Knox's notion for a newtrial, (9) refusing to grant Knox's
nmotion to suppress evidence concerning his possession of firearns,
(10) admtting various testinony, (11) refusing to require the
governnent to identify a non-testifying confidential informant,
(12) attributing 15.65 kilograns of crack cocaine to Knox for
sentenci ng purposes, and (13) refusing to find that Knox was
subj ect to sentencing entrapnent for selling drugs within 1000 feet
of a high school. Dixon incorporates each of Knox's all egati ons of
error by reference and further contends that the district court
erred by (1) refusing to grant Dixon's notion for a newtrial, (2)
refusing to give Dixon's proposed jury instructions, (3) limting
Di xon's objections, (4) attributing 11.79 kilograns of crack
cocaine to Dixon for sentencing purposes, (5) refusing to grant
Di xon a downward departure as a mninmal or mnor participant, (6)
refusing to grant Dixon a downward departure because his
coconspirators, who cooperated with the governnent, received
lighter sentences, (7) refusing to reduce D xon's offense |evel

based on Di xon's acceptance of responsibility, and (8) refusing to
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hold that the disparity between sentences for crack cocai ne and
powder cocaine is unconstitutional. After carefully review ng the
record, we determ ne that each of the argunents is neritless under
the established law of this Grcuit and does not require
di scussion. See United States v. Allen, 76 F.3d 1348, 1357 (5th
Cr.) (summarily affirmng district court and refusing to discuss

meritless argunents), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 121 (1996).

VI1I. CONCLUSI ON
For the foregoi ng reasons, we VACATE St anl ey Knox's convi ction

on count one (conspiracy), and AFFIRM the district court in al

ot her respects.

VACATED IN PART AND AFFI RVED | N PART.
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